



### Assemblée générale

Distr. GÉNÉRALE

A/HRC/10/31/Add.2 9 mars 2009

FRANÇAIS

Original: ANGLAIS

CONSEIL DES DROITS DE L'HOMME Dixième session Point 2 de l'ordre du jour

# RAPPORT ANNUEL DU HAUT-COMMISSAIRE DES NATIONS UNIES AUX DROITS DE L'HOMME ET RAPPORTS DU HAUT-COMMISSARIAT ET DU SECRÉTAIRE GÉNÉRAL

#### Additif\*

Rapport du Haut-Commissaire des Nations Unies aux droits de l'homme sur les activités du bureau du Haut-Commissariat en Bolivie \*\*\*

<sup>\*</sup> Soumission tardive.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Le résumé du présent rapport est distribué dans toutes les langues officielles. Le rapport proprement dit est joint en annexe au résumé, et il est distribué dans la langue originale et en espagnol seulement.

#### Résumé

Conformément à l'accord signé en février 2007 entre le Haut-Commissariat des Nations Unies aux droits de l'homme (HCDH) et le Gouvernement bolivien, le présent rapport donne un aperçu de la situation des droits de l'homme en Bolivie et fait le point des principales activités du bureau du Haut-Commissariat en Bolivie en 2008. Il contient aussi une série de recommandations.

Le bureau du HCDH en Bolivie a réalisé 41 missions sur le terrain pour suivre l'évolution de la situation des droits de l'homme dans le pays. Il a aussi fourni des services consultatifs et dispensé des formations à des institutions publiques ainsi qu'à des représentants de la société civile. Il a en particulier donné des avis techniques sur le nouveau projet de constitution ainsi que sur diverses propositions de textes législatifs et apporté une assistance technique au Ministère de la justice pour l'élaboration du plan d'action national sur les droits de l'homme (PNADH).

Le bureau du HCDH en Bolivie se félicite des mesures positives prises par le Gouvernement dans le domaine des droits économiques, sociaux et culturels, notamment la «rente dignité» – une nouvelle prestation non contributive pour les plus de 60 ans – et les programmes sociaux *Bono Juancito Pinto* et l'initiative «*Yo, sí puedo*» («Oui, je le peux»), qui ont permis aux autorités de déclarer qu'il n'y avait plus d'analphabétisme dans le pays en présence de l'Organisation des Nations Unies pour l'éducation, la science et la culture (UNESCO). Il y a aussi lieu de souligner que la Déclaration des Nations Unies sur les droits des peuples autochtones a été incorporée dans un texte législatif et que les droits qui y sont consacrés sont en cours d'intégration dans les politiques et programmes publics. L'adoption récente du PNADH constitue aussi un progrès.

En dépit de ces avancées, les problèmes restent nombreux. La création très controversée de l'assemblée constituante, en 2007, a engendré des tensions politiques en 2008. La quête d'autonomie des départements dans les régions du sud et de l'est du pays a exacerbé les antagonismes. Les tensions ont atteint leur paroxysme le 11 septembre avec le massacre du Pando, qui a fait au moins 11 morts et a conduit le Gouvernement à déclarer l'état d'urgence dans le département. En octobre 2008, le Gouvernement et l'opposition ont réussi à trouver un accord sur les modifications à apporter à la nouvelle Constitution, y compris sur les questions liées à l'autonomie des départements. Cet accord a conduit à l'approbation par les deux tiers du Congrès d'une loi prévoyant un référendum pour statuer sur la nouvelle Constitution et déterminer la surface de terrain qu'une personne peut détenir.

La situation des droits de l'homme a suscité des préoccupations en 2008, dans la mesure où le nombre d'actes et de pratiques racistes ou discriminatoires signalés contre des autochtones a augmenté, tout comme les attaques contre des défenseurs des droits de l'homme, les atteintes à la liberté d'expression et de la presse; en outre, dans certains cas, les phénomènes de recours excessif à la force par les forces de sécurité, l'affaiblissement de l'administration de la justice et les atteintes aux garanties d'une procédure régulière se sont aggravés.

#### Annexe

#### REPORT OF THE UNITED NATIONS HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR HUMAN RIGHTS ON THE ACTIVITIES OF HER OFFICE IN BOLIVIA

#### **CONTENTS**

			Paragraphs	Page
Introduction			1 - 3	
I.	NAT	TIONAL CONTEXT	4 - 12	
II.	HUMAN RIGHTS SITUATION		13 - 70	
	A.	Political violence	13 - 29	
	B.	Rule of law and impunity	30 - 41	
	C.	Security and human rights	42 - 47	
	D.	Indigenous peoples	48 - 58	
	E.	Economic, social and cultural rights	59 - 61	
	F.	National Human Rights Action Plan (PNADH)	62 - 63	
	G.	Freedom of expression, freedom of the press and the right to information	64 - 70	
III.	MAIN ACTIVITIES OF THE OFFICE OF THE UNITED NATIONS HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR HUMAN RIGHTS IN BOLIVIA		71 - 88	
IV	RECOMMENDATIONS		89 - 102	

#### Introduction

- 1. On 13 February 2007, the Government of Bolivia and the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) signed an agreement to establish an OHCHR office in the country. The agreement was approved by the National Congress on 13 July 2007 in Law 3713. OHCHR Bolivia formally initiated its activities in August 2007.
- 2. The agreement provides OHCHR Bolivia with a broad mandate that comprises, inter alia, the provision of technical assistance to public institutions and civil society organizations; the promotion of human rights; and the monitoring and reporting on the status of human rights in the country.
- 3. This report provides an overview of the human rights situation in Bolivia, highlighting progress and issues that were of concern in 2008. The report also details the main activities carried out by OHCHR Bolivia and makes recommendations on how to further advance the human rights agenda in the country.

#### I. NATIONAL CONTEXT

- 4. After a highly controversial Constituent Assembly process, Bolivia approved a new draft constitution in December 2007. Throughout the following year, the opposition contested the approval procedure of the new draft constitution as well as much of its content. This dispute prevented the Government from putting the new draft constitution to a referendum in 2008. Ultimately, an agreement reached in Congress at the end of the year permitted a referendum to be scheduled for January 2009.
- 5. Another issue of contention was the struggle for political autonomy promoted by the Departments of Beni, Pando, Santa Cruz and Tarija. Between May and June 2008, these departments called for consultations on their proposal for statutes of autonomy. The latter took place even though the National Electoral Court ruled that the prefectures did not have the authority to call for such a vote and that they were infringing the Constitution. The Government contested these consultations, considering them illegal and unconstitutional.
- 6. Various confrontations occurred during and after each of these consultations, including attacks on human rights defenders, clashes between opposing groups, and assaults on freedom of expression and opinion.
- 7. Two electoral events occurred in 2008. The first was the election of a new Prefect for Chuquisaca on 29 June, which was won by the main opposition candidate. The other was a recall referendum in August to determine whether the President, the Vice-President, as well as eight of the nine prefects of the country should remain in office. The results of the recall referendum demonstrated the high and broad popular support for the President and his Vice-President. They

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Chuquisaca did not hold a referendum given its recent prefectural election.

were confirmed in office by 67.41 per cent of the electorate. The Prefects of Potosí, Santa Cruz and Beni also obtained highly favourable voting scores. The Prefects in La Paz and Cochabamba were recalled.

- 8. Once the results of the recall referendum were made public, President Morales invited the prefects from the opposition to discuss contentious issues related to departmental autonomy, and the Government plan for distribution of income from the direct tax on the sale of hydrocarbons known as IDH.<sup>2</sup> Following the collapse of these talks, the prefectures seeking autonomy, with the support of local civic committees, began to organize protests against the Government, including an attack against the departmental police command in Santa Cruz on 15 August and a call for a civil strike in four departments on 17 August. Members of the civic committees, along with officials and supporters of the departmental prefectures, multiplied these acts by occupying, looting and setting fire to national public offices and institutions. They also occupied oil facilities and caused damage to the fuel distribution network.
- 9. In response to the riots, the Government ordered the country's law enforcement authorities to protect public facilities and called upon the population to defend democracy, the national institutions and the socio-political process of change known as *proceso de cambio*. It denounced the protests as a "*civic-prefect coup d'état*" and declared the Ambassador of the United States of America in Bolivia persona non grata, accusing him of fostering the coup and forcing him to leave the country.
- 10. In this spiral of violence, a massacre occurred on 11 September in the Department of Pando, with at least 11 persons killed and around 50 wounded. The former Prefect of Pando, Leopoldo Fernández, as well as employees of the Pando Prefecture and members of the local civic committee have been charged in connection with these events. In the immediate aftermath of the massacre, the Government declared a state of emergency in Pando and detained and transported to La Paz 38 individuals, including the then Prefect.
- 11. The will to prevent further violence triggered a national dialogue, first between the Government and the prefects, and later on between the Government and the whole political opposition in Congress. This dialogue led to an important agreement and modifications were made to the new draft constitution, taking into consideration demands for departmental autonomy.
- 12. This agreement led two thirds of Congress to approve, on 21 October 2008, Law 3942, which calls for a referendum to decide on the new draft constitution as well as to determine the maximum size of land to be owned by any one person. The referendum is set to take place on 25 January 2009. However, certain political sectors have maintained their opposition to the new draft constitution, particularly with regards to the issues of autonomy and distribution of resources between the Government and the departments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> On 28 November 2007, Congress approved law 3791 which created the *renta dignidad*, a new non-contributory benefit for persons over the age of 60. This pension began to be distributed in February 2008, financed through the use of 30 per cent of the income accrued from the IDH. This last measure was rejected by pro-autonomy prefects and they have since claimed these funds.

#### II. HUMAN RIGHTS SITUATION

#### A. Political violence

#### 1. Activities of the grupos de choque or "clash groups"

- 13. The differences between the Government and the pro-autonomy departments have polarized the country and led to social and ethnic tensions. Politically motivated groups of civilians have begun to organize themselves into *grupos de choque* or "clash groups" and contributed to the violent environment. The majority of these groups support departmental autonomy whilst some have acted in defence of the national Government.
- 14. Many groups have been increasingly aggressive in their opposition to the Government and in their support of pro-autonomy prefectures. The Santa Cruz Youth Union (*Unión Juvenil Cruceñista UJC*) is an older organization which has recently been involved in clash group activities.
- 15. During the departmental consultation in Santa Cruz, on 4 May 2008, the UJC with other clash groups were involved in various disturbances and clashes against supporters of the Government party *Movimiento al Socialismo* (MAS). Many members of these groups were seen walking freely with shields, sticks, firecrackers and slingshots. Even though no major incidents occurred on that day, their actions and belligerent behaviour were considered justifiable by the prefect and the civic committee.
- 16. These groups acted with total impunity. In the Department of Santa Cruz, the police and the Public Prosecutor's Office did not take effective measures to control them. It was reported to OHCHR Bolivia that these groupings enjoy the protection of important political or economic power groups, which have influence over local judicial authorities.
- 17. Violence has also been exercised by groups that support the national Government. In La Paz, the Popular Civic Committee was reportedly responsible for verbal and physical aggressions against journalists, policemen and the Ombudsman. Even though some of the perpetrators have been reportedly identified, the competent authorities have not detained those responsible nor tried to prevent new attacks. Only at the end of the year were two members of the Committee investigated.

#### 2. Violence in Sucre

- 18. On 24 May 2008, violent incidents broke out in the city of Sucre, after youth groups and a number of supporters of the opposition tried to prevent the visit to the city by President Morales for the independence call festivities. Clashes also occurred with police and military forces that had been deployed to safeguard the arrival of the Head of State. Some indigenous persons who sympathize with the Government were captured, insulted, kicked, clubbed, humiliated and forced to kneel down in the main square. More than 30 indigenous persons and peasants were injured that day. All of these attacks had serious racist undertones. The aggressors, mainly members of the political opposition, acted with total impunity.
- 19. OHCHR Bolivia has received a number of allegations that members of the Inter-Institutional Committee, a pro-autonomy group, and of the San Francisco Xavier

University were involved in the violent outbreaks of 24 May. OHCHR Bolivia has collected testimonies and video images which suggest that members of this Committee were present during the incidents and were giving orders to the youth participating in the fighting.

20. There were eight cases under investigation by the Chuquisaca District Prosecutor's Office in connection with the Sucre incidents. In three of them, a number of individuals have been charged with criminal offences, including two employees of the prefecture. The other five cases were dismissed by the District Prosecutor's Office. Some victims have been reluctant to testify to the Prosecutor's Office for fear of reprisals from the civic committee.

#### 3. Massacre in Pando

- 21. On 11 September, a group of peasants and indigenous persons heading to a meeting in the city of Cobija<sup>3</sup> was stopped in the surrounding area of El Porvenir by members and supporters of the Pando Prefecture as well as affiliates of the civic committee. Violent incidents occurred, leaving at least 11 dead and around 50 wounded.<sup>4</sup> Nine of the victims were indigenous peasants and *normalistas* (i.e. students who are studying to be teachers) and two were supporters of the Prefecture.
- 22. OHCHR Bolivia has gathered first-hand testimonies from victims, their relatives, witnesses, local authorities and some of the persons involved in the violence. In El Porvenir, shots were fired indiscriminately against the gathering of peasants and indigenous people, killing nine of them. It is alleged that some of the victims, well-known indigenous leaders, were purposely targeted and killed, that in addition several victims were prevented from receiving medical treatment and at least 15 indigenous peasants were captured and subjected to torture, ill-treatment and humiliation. It is further alleged that the armed attack and subsequent aggression were executed by civil servants and supporters of the Pando Prefecture, including members of the civic committee. On the other hand, six supporters of the Prefecture were also captured and beaten, and then released by the peasants following the intervention of the police. OHCHR Bolivia found that what occurred in El Porvenir was a massacre, constituting a grave violation of human rights.
- 23. The Ombudsman's Office and the Union of South American Nations (UNASUR) conducted their own investigations and made their findings public on 29 November and 3 December respectively.<sup>5</sup> Both organizations concluded that a massacre was committed

<sup>3</sup> Between 7 and 9 September, approximately 400 peasants gathered in Riberalta (Beni) and Puerto Rico (Pando) before heading out to a meeting in Cobija. Another group of around 600 peasants came from Filadelfia.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Public Prosecutor's Office informed the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) that at this point in its investigation it can confirm 11 fatalities in El Porvenir and surrounding areas. Some reports, including those of the Ombudsman's Office and the Union of South American Nations (UNASUR), indicate that the number of fatal casualties could be higher.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The investigation by the Ombudsman's Office was carried out in accordance with Law 1818. The investigation by the UNASUR commission was carried out according to the La Moneda Declaration of 15 September 2008.

by members and supporters of the Prefecture of Pando and qualified it as a crime against humanity.

- 24. It was reported to OHCHR Bolivia that the police tried to mediate between opposing groups in El Porvenir, yet allegedly it did not try to disarm those involved nor use all necessary measures to prevent and stop the violence. The armed forces did not intervene in this case.
- 25. OHCHR Bolivia has observed that several legal initiatives have been started in the investigation of those responsible for the violence in Pando. Among these are the initial investigation by the Attorney-General, complaints filed by lawyers on behalf of victims' relatives, and the investigation conducted by a Special Commission of the Chamber of Deputies which was created by Chamber resolution 54/2008. Although this Special Commission is pursuing its investigation with powers similar to those of the Prosecutor's Office, OHCHR Bolivia is concerned that uncertainty as to the procedures to be followed in the ensuing judicial investigation of this case could possibly flaw the due process of law and lead to impunity.
- 26. On 12 September, the Government proclaimed a state of emergency in Pando. Two persons a soldier and an evangelical pastor died on the day the state of emergency took effect, following an exchange of fire between the supporters of the Prefecture and the army, when the latter took control of the airport of Cobija.
- 27. The state of emergency declared in Pando was in line with the State's obligations under international law and it contributed to improving security conditions in Pando. However, OHCHR Bolivia considers that some abuses may have been committed. According to testimonies, excessive force was used by the armed forces during some of the 38 arrests. Moreover, those deprived of their liberty were not brought before a judge after their arrest, except in the case of the former Prefect. Throughout their administrative detention, they would have had difficulty in securing the attorneys of their choice. OHCHR was able to determine, however, that although the prisoners were being held in military quarters, they were nonetheless accorded humane treatment, were provided with food and medical care, were visited by the Ombudsman and were finally able to contact their families. In sum, their conditions of detention were in accordance with international standards.
- 28. The state of emergency was lifted on 23 November by the Government. The Prosecutor's Office decided to file criminal charges in relation to the incidents in Pando against 19 of the confined persons. The other persons deprived of their liberty during the state of emergency were released on 24 November.
- 29. As a positive measure, it should be highlighted that, on 24 September, the Government approved and executed a decree to provide medical and social assistance to those who were injured in Pando, to grant financial assistance to the relatives of the victims deceased during the incidents, and to offer humanitarian aid to those that were affected by the violence.

#### B. Rule of law and impunity

#### 1. The justice system

- 30. The justice system and the Public Prosecutor's Office face many challenges: they have been shown to be susceptible to political interference, are not accessible to a majority of the population and are also subject to delays and corruption. This situation has serious implications for the penitentiary system, as according to information obtained by OHCHR Bolivia, 78 per cent of the 7,433 prisoners in Bolivia are awaiting trial.<sup>6</sup>
- 31. The political tensions between the Government and the prefectures have weakened the administration of justice and put at risk the rule of law. OHCHR Bolivia has observed that despite established procedures and due process, both the Government and the opposition have tended to file suits only in courts where they are likely to gain a favourable ruling. There have also been reports that the Government would have sued or threatened to prosecute judges who issued decisions unfavourable to its own interests.
- 32. Furthermore, the political impasse in Parliament has prevented new high-level appointments from being made, namely the designation of nine magistrates to the Constitutional Tribunal, one judge to the Supreme Court of Justice, the Attorney-General and two members of the National Electoral Court. The most important vacancies that should have been filled in 2008 are those in the Constitutional Tribunal, which has been paralysed for more than one year as a result. OHCHR Bolivia is concerned by this situation, given that the Constitutional Tribunal is the main body responsible in Bolivia for the protection of fundamental rights and freedoms.<sup>7</sup>

#### 2. Arbitrary detention

- 33. Although no policy or systematic practice of arbitrary detention is in place, there was concern over a number of irregular detentions carried out by the security forces against political opponents, who allegedly committed common (i.e. non-political) crimes. According to allegations received by OHCHR Bolivia, some of these arrests were carried out by hooded agents acting without warrants and using disproportionate force. Such practices would be in clear contradiction of constitutional guarantees and international human rights standards.
- 34. In June, a judge ruled against the illegal nature of the arrest of an individual who had been arrested in Sucre and transported to La Paz. This person was being accused by the Government of attacking members of the executive. No similar ruling on the legality of detention has occurred in any of the other cases brought before the judiciary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Data gathered by OHCHR in August 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Between December 2007 and January 2008, several magistrates resigned due to political pressure, and the Constitutional Tribunal did not have a quorum to operate. On 10 November 2008, 3,168 cases were still pending.

#### 3. Reparation for human rights violations

- 35. Some progress was achieved during 2008 with respect to reparations to victims of serious human rights violations. Among a number of actions taken by the Government, OHCHR Bolivia welcomed the adoption of laws and decrees that guarantee reparations to victims of the violent political confrontations that occurred prior to or during the mandate of this Government. For example, in November 2008, President Morales promulgated Law 3955 which guarantees reparations to the victims of the violence of February, September and October 2003. According to the law, reparations are to be funded with resources from IDH.
- 36. There have been difficulties, however, in processing the applications and disbursing compensation for the more than 6,000 persons who are seeking reparation within the framework of Law 2640. The deadline for processing these applications and paying compensation expired in 2007. Lack of funds is one of the main stumbling blocks for the enforcement of this law, which stipulates that 80 per cent of the required financial resources should be secured by the Government from international cooperation agencies. Many donor agencies, however, have already stated that compensation should fall solely under the responsibility of the State. Several victims' organizations have reported this situation to the special procedures of the Human Rights Council.
- 37. It is important to recall that the concept of integral reparation entails not only economic compensation but also the right to truth and the prosecution of those responsible for human rights violations. It is also essential that the investigations and trials for serious human rights violations are conducted free from procedural obstacles and political influence, as the latter would only favour impunity in the long run.<sup>9</sup>
- 38. OHCHR Bolivia acknowledges the efforts made by the Government to solve and reach a friendly settlement on complaints filed before the Inter-American Human Rights system. It welcomes the acknowledgement by the Government of international responsibility and the public apology issued this year in the cases of *M.Z. v. Bolivia*, <sup>10</sup> *Rainer Ibsen Cárdenas and José Luis Ibsen Peña v. Bolivia* and *Renato Ticona Estrada et al. v. Bolivia*. In the latter, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights issued a decision against the Bolivian State. <sup>12</sup> Likewise, OHCHR Bolivia welcomes the successful search and return of the remains of four persons including those of Rainer Ibsen who died three decades ago under the de facto regime of

<sup>8</sup> Law on Exceptional Reparation for Victims of Political Violence during Periods of Unconstitutional Governments of 11 March 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Worth highlighting are the cases of former President Sánchez de Lozada and his collaborators in the various confrontations that took place in 2003; the investigation of those accused of the violence of November 2007 and May 2008 in Sucre; and the investigation of the events that took place in Pando in September 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See *M.Z. v. Bolivia*, case 12.350, report No. 73/01, OEA/Ser./L/V/II.114 Doc. 5, rev. at 121 (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See case 786/03, report No. 46/05, IACHR, OAS/Ser./L/V/II.124 Doc. 5 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Inter-American Court, *Ticona Estrada et al. v. Bolivia. Merits, reparations and costs.* Judgement of 27 November 2008.

President Banzer. OHCHR Bolivia suggests these efforts continue to be made and that the confidential military files from the time of the dictatorship be declassified.

#### 4. Human rights defenders

- 39. During 2008, there was an increase in the number of threats and attacks against human rights defenders. Civil society organizations promoting the rights of indigenous peoples and peasants in Beni, Santa Cruz, Tarija and Chuquisaca were particularly targeted. According to the information collected by OHCHR Bolivia and testimonies from the victims, the perpetrators of these attacks and acts of intimidation were members of the civic committees and local opponents to the Government. In some cases, it was reported that these groups sent written warnings to human rights institutions to leave a given locality.
- 40. Of particular concern were the attacks on 11 and 12 September on the premises of the *Centro de Estudios Jurídicos e Investigación Social* (CEJIS) in Santa Cruz and the *Centro de Investigación y Promoción del Campesinado* (CIPCA) in Guarayos (Santa Cruz), organizations which promote the rights of indigenous persons. In both cases, there was considerable material damage, valuable documentation was burned, and office equipment was looted. Members of both institutions are still at risk, as threats have continued to be made and there has been a lack of police protection and thorough investigation of these incidents.
- 41. Also of concern is the fact that representatives from the Ombudsman's offices in Chuquisaca and Santa Cruz, as well as various human rights activists, have been tagged as "traitors" by the civic movements in these departments and have suffered a number of offences, insults and aggression related to their work. Staff from the Ombudsman's Office in La Paz also suffered offences and aggression from members of the Popular Civic Committee (*Comité Cívico Popular*).

#### C. Security and human rights

#### 1. Security forces

42. According to a study conducted by UNDP,<sup>13</sup> the majority of citizens do not trust the National Police. The operational capacity of the police is insufficient in terms of infrastructure, human and financial resources. This is especially the case in rural areas. This lack of trust might also be a result of the incapacity of the security forces to comply with its duty to prevent human rights violations, as observed by OHCHR Bolivia in the racist incidents of 24 May in Sucre and the massacre in Pando.

43. During the violent protests and confrontations that occurred throughout 2008, civilians often attacked members of the police and the military. In August, the departmental commander of the police force in Santa Cruz and other policemen were attacked and beaten by supporters of the local civic movement. Several police and military officers were also insulted and mistreated by civic groups supporting autonomy in the departments of Beni, Chuquisaca, Pando, Santa Cruz

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> "Policia Nacional y seguridad ciudadana", UNDP Bolivia, July 2006 available at http://idh.pnud.bo/webportal/Publicaciones/EncuestaparaelDesarrolloHumano/tabid/258/Default.aspx.

and Tarija. These same groups are also allegedly responsible for occupying, looting and setting fire to public institutions in September. In Sucre, military officers were obliged to march carrying the flag of Chuquisaca during the incidents of 24 May.

44. It is commendable that senior security officials usually opted for a more conciliatory line and chose not to use force in order to avoid an escalation of violence and reprisals. In some cases however, and especially at the outset of the riots and clashes, the police should have been able to intervene legitimately to prevent further damage and attacks against civilians and security personnel.

#### 2. Lynching

- 45. Lynching has been a widespread phenomenon especially during the last decade and in most cases in impoverished urban areas of the Departments of Cochabamba, La Paz, Santa Cruz, Chuquisaca and Potosi. At least 23 cases of lynching were reported by the press during 2008, mainly against delinquents suspected of having committed common crimes, with 20 persons being killed and 23 injured.
- 46. The fact that a majority of the population has limited access to the justice system, compounded by the fact that the police and the Public Prosecutor's Office are not equally present across the country, may have contributed to citizens taking justice into their own hands. The methods used to punish alleged delinquents have most of the time been severe. Three policemen suspected of extortion in Epizana (Cochabamba) were stoned and hanged by a group of locals. In Achacachi (La Paz), the victims of a lynching were sprayed with gasoline and burned alive.
- 47. Lynching is wrongfully associated with traditional indigenous justice. Indigenous justice is acknowledged in national legislation and is recognized in the new draft constitution. Certain media and sectors of the opposition have contributed to creating confusion over traditional indigenous justice, further stigmatizing indigenous peoples. Some indigenous groups which have threatened to use violence and lynching against their opponents have also contributed to this confusion. The Government and civil society organizations launched awareness campaigns in 2008 to condemn lynching and to explain the scope of traditional indigenous justice. Although it would seem the above-mentioned cases are being processed in the justice system, OHCHR issued two press releases on this matter expressing concern and condemning lynching, in addition to calling for the prosecution of those responsible so as to avoid impunity and prevent further incidents.

#### D. Indigenous peoples

#### 1. Rights of indigenous peoples

48. According to the last census of 2000, 62 per cent of the Bolivian population over the age of 15 identify themselves with one of the 36 indigenous peoples that exist in the country. The indigenous population is the most affected by extreme poverty. During the past years, many indigenous groups have worked towards improving their social and political status. These groups had a high level of participation during the deliberations of the Constituent Assembly, and in the dialogue that culminated with the call for the referendum to approve the new constitution.

- 49. This process of social and political inclusion is not occurring at the same pace in all regions of the country. In the Eastern and Amazon regions for example, indigenous leaders are constantly subject to threats and attacks. In September, OHCHR Bolivia observed the damage caused by the takeover of the offices of the Federation of Bolivia's Indigenous Peoples (*Confederación de Pueblos Indígenas de Bolivia*) and the destruction of the offices of the Coordinator of Santa Cruz Ethnic Peoples (*Coordinadora de Pueblos Étnicos de Santa Cruz*). Both acts were committed by members of the civic movements in Santa Cruz who oppose the Government.
- 50. Among the measures adopted to improve the situation of indigenous peoples, OHCHR Bolivia would like to commend Bolivia for being the first country to enact the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples as law; for the incorporation of a broad catalogue of collective rights in the proposed new constitution; for the decision to incorporate indigenous rights into public policies and programmes; <sup>14</sup> for the creation of a National Commission for the Eradication of Servitude and Forced Labour; and for the continuation of the process of land distribution.
- 51. The report of the visit by the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights and fundamental freedoms of indigenous people to Bolivia was presented in June 2008 to the Human Rights Council. It offers a series of recommendations aimed at tackling the uneven relations that have lasted for so long between indigenous and non-indigenous populations.

#### 2. Racism and discrimination

- 52. Historically, indigenous persons have been discriminated against and excluded from participating in political and public affairs. Since taking office, President Morales has put in place a series of measures aimed at remedying this situation. These new policies, however, have not been welcomed by certain groups, particularly in the Departments of Beni, Chuquisaca, Pando, Santa Cruz and Tarija. The Office has noted an increase in acts of racism and discrimination against peasants and indigenous peoples in some departments, often leading to violence.
- 53. The incidents that occurred in Sucre and Pando in 2008 had serious racist and discriminatory connotations. In Santa Cruz, there has been a proliferation of racist speeches and assaults by some members of the civic committee and the media against indigenous migrants from the highlands. Furthermore, members of the opposition have made a number of offensive remarks about the President and government officials due to their indigenous origins.
- 54. Several public institutions, as well as civil society, have tried to combat the proliferation of racist attitudes and actions. At the beginning of 2008, the Ombudsman's Office and the University La Cordillera (La Paz) came together to create a new network known as the Observatory of Racism. Since its inception, the Observatory has undertaken several studies and promoted various campaigns in the media to tackle the issue of discrimination. A draft law on anti-discrimination, which would make important modifications to the Penal Code, is being considered in Congress.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The new National Human Rights Action Plan has a specific section on indigenous peoples and indigenous matters are considered as a cross-cutting issue throughout the Plan.

#### 3. Servitude and contemporary forms of slavery

- 55. OHCHR Bolivia undertook two field missions in July and October 2008 to the Chaco region and found that numerous Guaraní people are still subjected to servitude and other contemporary forms of slavery.
- 56. One of the most alarming situations is that of 20 communities in Alto Parapetí in Santa Cruz (approximately 450 Guaraní families), where the situation has in fact worsened due to the resistance of landlords and local opponents to the attempts by the Government to end the degrading living and working conditions that persist there.
- 57. These families have an irregular labour relationship with local landlords. They receive their salary in kind (clothing and food) and are automatically indebted to their employers for the goods they receive. This debt often ends up being permanent and can be inherited. Working hours and activities are not defined beforehand, and are generally excessive. Children are subjected to the same working conditions as adults. Some Guaraní leaders have reported having their right of freedom of association restricted and of being forced to waive their affiliation to the Assembly of Guaraní People (*Asamblea del Pueblo Guaraní*). Freedom of movement of workers to other communities is also restricted by landlords.
- 58. The Guaraní living under conditions of servitude have no access to private or collective property. Several of more than a dozen requests and pleas for titles to native community lands have been processed and approved by the authorities, entitling the Guaraní people to recover some of their original property rights. The Government has begun to carry out the first land restitution processes and is looking into buying back land from landlords so as to solve any conflict. This work is being done through the National Institute of Agrarian Reform (INRA) and according to Law 3545 and its complementary regulations.

#### E. Economic, social and cultural rights

- 59. OHCHR Bolivia welcomes the fact that the rights enshrined in the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights and in the Protocol of San Salvador, <sup>15</sup> including the rights to water and to basic public services, were included in the new draft constitution.
- 60. Furthermore, OHCHR Bolivia notes with satisfaction the consolidation and expansion of several social programmes initiated before 2008, such as the "dignity pension", as well as the Juancito Pinto Bonus Programme which has increased school attendance of elementary schoolchildren, notably amongst girls in rural areas. The Zero Malnutrition initiative was launched in mid-2008, and has helped increase the availability of health services throughout the country. On 20 December 2008, the Government declared the country free of illiteracy in the presence of UNESCO. This achievement was reached thanks to the "Yo, sí puedo" ("Yes I can") programme that was launched in 2006 and which according to the Government has helped over 800,000 persons learn to read and write.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Additional Protocol to the American Convention on Human Rights in the Area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.

61. These programmes have helped the country to progress on many fronts, but Bolivia still faces many challenges. In spite of Government efforts, many groups are still underserved by social programmes, particularly indigenous communities, women and children. The country is still far from reaching all of the Millennium Development Goals, especially in terms of reducing extreme poverty and child malnutrition, and in improving access to health and education.

#### F. National Human Rights Action Plan (PNADH)

- 62. In 2008, the Ministry of Justice following consultations with civil society began to elaborate PNADH 2009-2013 the second in more than 10 years. OHCHR Bolivia provided technical advice in the design and formulation of the Plan, including some inputs and recommendations regarding its content, structure and logical framework. The completion of the Plan constitutes a significant achievement. The Plan, which was adopted through Supreme Decree 29581, was presented on 10 December in the framework of the sixtieth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.
- 63. The Plan identifies many human rights concerns in the country and delineates some actions that seek, inter alia, greater protection for collective and indigenous rights. Implementing PNADH will be one of the main challenges for the Government in the years to come. OHCHR Bolivia believes that the Government should be praised for the content of the Plan as well as the participatory nature of its preparation (departmental workshops and thematic round tables). At the same time, the plan needs a stronger commitment from various governmental offices, mainly the Ministries of Foreign Affairs, Interior, Education, Labour and Finance in order to guarantee its sustainability. Thus, it is of the utmost importance that the monitoring mechanism of the Plan is speedily implemented through the Human Rights National Commission with the full participation of State entities, social organizations and civil society to make sure that its objectives are met.

#### G. Freedom of expression, freedom of the press and the right to information

- 64. The relations between the Government and the private media were uneasy throughout 2008. The Government has increasingly accused the mass media of conspiring against it. In turn, many media outlets have adopted a strong line of opposition to the Government.
- 65. OHCHR Bolivia has noted that certain members of the media critical of the Government have broadcast biased and distorted information and, in some cases, publicized news and opinions which have incited others to resort to racist or political violence, as was the case during the racist incidents of 24 May in Sucre. On the other hand, State media has also engaged in practices which may go against professional ethics and the right to information. Of special concern was an audio montage done over images of peasants fleeing through the Tahuamanu River during the incidents in Pando, as well as a Government advertising campaign that anticipates a 30-year jail term for the former Prefect of Pando, Leopoldo Fernandez, who is the main person accused in the Pando incidents. In December, the President asked the editor and a journalist of *La Prensa* for explanations regarding an article which claimed he had carried out negotiations with smugglers in the Government Palace for permission for the passage of

contraband goods. The President criticized media owners for their coverage of these corruption allegations and this led to a strong reaction from media outlets.

- 66. In terms of attacks on the mass media or their workers, according to the *Observatorio Nacional de Medios* a total of 117 journalists suffered verbal and physical assaults between June 2007 and August 2008. <sup>16</sup> In May 2008, a radio broadcaster from the municipal radio station in Pucarani was murdered, presumably by opponents of the local mayor. Although suspects involved in the murder have been identified, OHCHR Bolivia is concerned by the fact that this case has not been clarified due to a series of delays, change of prosecutors and conflict over jurisdiction.
- 67. Some victims worked for the State-controlled media and their attackers were often supporters of departmental autonomy or members of different civic movements that oppose the Government. Most of the journalists that were attacked, however, worked for the private media. Many of these media have been tagged as enemies by government officials. In certain cases, these public denunciations may have exacerbated the animosity of government followers towards the mass media.
- 68. Throughout the year, communication facilities were attacked and destroyed, transmission and broadcasting equipment was intentionally damaged and there were several television networks which were arbitrarily restricted from broadcasting. One of the attacks occurred in June, in Yacuiba (Tarija), where a bomb was detonated in the building of a major television channel.
- 69. There has been no satisfactory investigation of the few complaints filed by journalists and the national press guild, nor does it appear that adequate measures have been taken to effectively prevent further attacks.<sup>17</sup>
- 70. Political debate was generally free and fair and with ample public participation during the various electoral processes that occurred in the country. There were several cases however in which freedom of expression was affected in some way. For example, in Chuquisaca, the tense political environment limited the ability of candidates to campaign freely for the prefecture. While the ruling party had problems in organizing rallies and setting up campaign houses in Sucre, given the pressure exercised by some supporters of the Inter-Institutional Committee, the main opposition group (*Alianza Comité Interinstitucional Movimiento Popular Ciudadano*) in turn received constant threats that prevented it from campaigning in several of the rural areas.

## III. MAIN ACTIVITIES OF THE OFFICE OF THE UNITED NATIONS HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR HUMAN RIGHTS IN BOLIVIA

71. Pursuant to its mandate, OHCHR Bolivia conducted 41 missions to monitor the human rights situation throughout the country.

<sup>16</sup> See report on attacks against journalists and the media at http://www.unirbolivia.org/.

Of the cases of violence against press officers identified by the *Observatorio Nacional de Medios*, only 13.6 per cent were officially filed with justice officials, and no one so far has been held accountable.

- 72. OHCHR Bolivia monitored the human rights situation in several departments, including Pando, particularly in the aftermath of the violent events that took place on 11 September. The Office maintained a constant dialogue with national and departmental authorities and civil society and, on several occasions, established direct contact with witnesses, victims and their families. OHCHR Bolivia also visited the individuals that were detained and transported to La Paz as a result of the state of emergency in Pando.
- 73. OHCHR Bolivia conducted training for human rights defenders on international human rights protection mechanisms and basic monitoring techniques and provided technical advice to the Ministry of Justice in the design and formulation of the new PNADH which was adopted in December 2008.
- 74. OHCHR Bolivia closely followed the issue of reparations to the victims of the 1964-1982 military regimes and facilitated their access to the special procedures of the Human Rights Council. The Office maintained regular contacts with victim associations, national authorities and members of the National Commission for the Reparation to Victims of Political Violence (CONREVIP)<sup>18</sup> and assisted in speeding up the processing of applications. OHCHR Bolivia also assisted in the preparation of a project funded by the Danish Government aimed at strengthening the human resources of CONREVIP in order to process applications faster.
- 75. Regarding the fight against racism and discrimination, OHCHR Bolivia organized a series of technical meetings with representatives from Government, civil society, academia and the Ombudsman's Office, aimed at facilitating the formulation of proposals for the Regional Conference for Latin America and the Caribbean Preparatory to the Durban Review Conference in Brasilia (17-19 June 2008). OHCHR Bolivia also provided technical advice to the newly established Observatory of Racism and shared similar experiences from other countries.
- 76. Within the framework of the new draft constitution, OHCHR Bolivia provided advisory services to the members of the Constituent Assembly and shared with them a comprehensive study on the human rights-related clauses contained in the proposed new constitution. The study was also discussed with certain senior officials of various ministries, lawmakers, prefects and the Ombudsman's Office. OHCHR Bolivia underscored the positive aspects of the new constitutional text but also highlighted some of the elements which could be interpreted as going against universal human rights standards. The final version of the draft constitution includes a number of the main recommendations put forward by OHCHR Bolivia.
- 77. OHCHR Bolivia also provided technical advice to Congress in the formulation of the following five bills: (a) mandatory military service, (b) reparation to the victims of the events that took place in September and October 2003, (c) State policy against torture and establishment of the national preventive mechanism, <sup>19</sup> (d) indigenous justice, and (e) public policy and criminal sanctions against all forms of discrimination. Of the above-mentioned bills, only the legislation on reparations has been enacted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The National Commission for the Reparation to Victims of Political Violence is the body in charge of processing and determining if a victim's application for compensation is valid.

- 78. OHCHR Bolivia was part of a technical working group composed, inter alia, of the Ministry of Justice, the Ombudsman's Office and several legislative committees that worked on the anti-discrimination bill. A public presentation of this bill was held on 27 November 2008.
- 79. OHCHR Bolivia promoted the ratification of human rights international treaties. With the Asociación de Familiares de Detenidos y Desaparecidos y Mártires por la Liberación Nacional<sup>20</sup> and the Ombudsman's Office, it fostered the adoption of Law 3935, which approved the International Convention for the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance. OHCHR Bolivia followed up on the deposit of this Convention and recommended that the Government consider accepting the competence of the Committee on Enforced Disappearance to process individual and inter-State communications. The same recommendation was made regarding the Committee on Migrant Workers (CMW).
- 80. OHCHR Bolivia promoted the deposit of the instrument of ratification of the Second Optional Protocol to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, aiming at the abolition of the death penalty, approved by Congress in 2006. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs submitted to OHCHR Bolivia a copy of the orders and the mandate provided by the President to his Permanent Representative to the United Nations to proceed with the deposit.
- 81. OHCHR Bolivia and the Ombudsman's Office have been promoting within Congress the adoption of the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and its Optional Protocol. Approval in Congress is still pending.
- 82. With regards to the United Nations treaty body system, OHCHR Bolivia called on the Ministry of Foreign Affairs to submit a response to the list of questions formulated by CMW and the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR), prior to the review of Bolivia's reports in April and May 2008, respectively. OHCHR Bolivia shared with NGOs and State institutions the final observations adopted in January by the Committee for the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, as well as those issued by CMW and CESCR. OHCHR Bolivia also collaborated with the Ministry of Justice in the preparation of the Government's outstanding reports to the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination.
- 83. OHCHR Bolivia also provided advice to several organizations and individuals on how to work with the special procedures of the Human Rights Council.
- 84. To commemorate the sixtieth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, OHCHR Bolivia organized various activities, individually and together with other institutions. On 10 December, the Office held the "Declarathon", an event during which the 30 articles of the Declaration were read out by more than 400 persons, in 18 languages, during 24 hours. Other commemorative activities included a photography competition on human rights.
- 85. In terms of public information, OHCHR Bolivia issued statements on lynching, on the conflicts over land in the Chaco region, on the acts of racism committed against peasants and

<sup>19</sup> In accordance with the Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> An association of relatives of persons that were detained and or disappeared under previous regimes.

indigenous people in Sucre, and on the violent incidents which occurred in the eastern departments at the beginning of September. In each case, OHCHR Bolivia condemned all human rights violations, requested clarification and called for dialogue.

- At the end of the year, OHCHR Bolivia launched a pilot version of its website.<sup>21</sup> 86.
- Within the framework of the United Nations system in Bolivia, OHCHR Bolivia has been 87. coordinating the Intercultural Thematic Group which advocates an intercultural approach and promotes the rights of indigenous peoples. The group also coordinates action with five of the most important indigenous organizations which are members of the National Council for Dialogue. 22 Through the Intercultural Thematic Group, the Office provided technical assistance to the Government for the elaboration of the Guaraní Development Plan, a process involving six ministries and the Asamblea del Pueblo Guaraní aimed at eradicating servitude.
- OHCHR Bolivia has also participated in the Gender Thematic Group, which aims to promote a gender approach in the work of United Nations agencies, programmes and funds.

#### IV. RECOMMENDATIONS

#### **Preventing political violence**

The High Commissioner calls upon the Government, the prefectures, the Congress and other political actors to promote tolerant attitudes and to address political, social and regional demands in a constructive manner, respecting democratic institutions, the rule of law and fundamental rights.

#### Rule of law and impunity

- The High Commissioner urges the relevant authorities to investigate and prosecute all cases of human rights violations. The competent authorities must ensure that victims have access to independent, impartial and timely justice, and that they are guaranteed adequate reparation. All investigations and legal procedures must be conducted respecting due process of law. This is particularly relevant with regard to the incidents of May in Sucre and the massacre in Pando in September. The High Commissioner recommends that the competent authorities conduct an impartial and expeditious investigation into all the killings and other human rights abuses in these two cases and ensure accountability.
- The High Commissioner calls upon the relevant authorities to adopt all necessary measures to combat impunity and prevent the reoccurrence of human rights violations such as the ones described in this report.
- The High Commissioner calls upon all branches of the State and the Public Prosecutor's Office to comply with and enforce judicial decisions, to no longer delay the appointment of judiciary authorities and to ensure that the principles of independence and impartiality prevail in all the institutions of justice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See http://bolivia.ohchr.org.

The National Council for Dialogue is a mechanism established by the agencies of the United Nations system in Bolivia and five organizations of indigenous peoples.

93. The High Commissioner calls upon national authorities to urgently identify sources of funding that will allow it to comply promptly with the reparation commitments it has undertaken through Law 2640, as was done for the victims of political violence covered by Law 3955.

#### Security and human rights

- 94. The High Commissioner recommends that the Government and the institutions of justice consolidate their presence throughout the country's nine departments so as to guarantee security and the full enjoyment of human rights.
- 95. The High Commissioner calls upon the Government to urgently strengthen the National Police Force so it can carry out its duties adequately and prevent further human rights violations.
- 96. The High Commissioner calls upon the Government, the National Police Force and the armed forces to clearly define rules of engagement during public protests, so that their actions are always proportional, timely and effective in their aim of preventing violence and respecting international human rights norms and standards.
- 97. The High Commissioner urges that in its fight against lynching the Government improve the coordination of different entities within the justice system, such as between the Public Prosecutor's Office and the judiciary. It should also seek to build the capacity of the security forces to enable them to intervene rapidly in situations which could lead to a lynching.

#### Rights of indigenous peoples, racism and discrimination

- 98. The High Commissioner calls upon the Government to adopt all necessary short- and long-term measures to prevent and combat racism and discrimination. The High Commissioner calls upon the Congress to approve legislation to combat all forms of discrimination.
- 99. The High Commissioner encourages the Government to continue to strengthen policies aimed at including indigenous peoples in all areas of public life.
- 100. The High Commissioner calls on the authorities and all concerned to adopt an attitude of openness and tolerance in implementing the measures necessary to address the problem of land distribution in Bolivia and to eradicate forced labour and servitude, and other situations which could be analogous to slavery.

#### **Human rights defenders**

101. The High Commissioner calls upon law enforcement authorities, including the judiciary, to ensure that human rights defenders enjoy full protection and that violations committed against them are promptly and fully investigated. Damages suffered by human rights defenders shall be duly compensated.

#### Freedom of expression

102. The High Commissioner calls upon the Government to respect and guarantee freedom of expression, freedom of the press and the right to information. The High Commissioner also calls upon all public and private media to exercise their professions according to the highest norms of professional ethics.

\_\_\_\_